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HONGEONG LAW REPORTS

LI TSE SHI ADMINISTRATRIX WITH THE WILL

ANNEXED oF LI WOON NADM, DECEASED,
Appellant
( Plaintiff)
AND

PONG TSQI CHING Respondent
(Defendant)
APFEAL No. 11 oF 1533.

{0. J. AcTioN No. 318 oF 1931).

EstoppelImpersonation af oumner of laassholda, platntif
consenting — froudulent  ossipnee —innecent  mortgagos —
innocent purchessr—plointiff dmpugning purchaser's title.

This is an appeal to the Pull Counrt from the desizion
(previously unreported) of Wood, Acting C. J. before whom
the vose was tried in 1823.

The judgments appear below. Briefly the facts are as
followrs s

On 19.425, one Li Woon Nam died pomsessed of cextain
lepsshold premises in Hong Koug.

By his will he bequeathed the premises to bhig widow, tha
plainziff, who, with the apparent object of evadicg estate duty
did not obtain representation until 42231, when she was
advisged ts do so in order o instivate these proceedings. In tha
meantime on 24.3.30, nearly five years after LI Woon Nam's
death, someone impersonatng him, assigmed the premises to one

Li Kai Lol. The assignment was duly registersd in the Land
Office.

By a mortgage dated 20.4.31, registered in the Land Otkce,
Li Kai Loi in fraud of the plaintiff, mertgaged the premises to
one Yan Pun

On  23.7.31, intsrest beinz then in arrear, Yan Pun in

weereise of his power of sale, sold  the premises to  the
defendant,

Oa the completion of this sale Messrm. Wilkinson & Grist
acted a3 golicitors for both vendor snd purchaser. At a point
of tirme after the exeeution of the maglgrunent by both partien
and whilst the purchase price still remained in the solicitors’
custody the latter received notice from the plaintiff’s  solicitors
stating that Ti Woon Nam had died in 1995 and conld Dot
therefore have eoxecuted the assignment of 1930, and pointing

out that all dealinpw with the pPropexty sfter his demth wmuat be
frandulent and void.

gLl
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HONGEONG LAW REPORTS 5

In her statement of claim the plainti® alleged that the
asalgnment to Li Kai Loi was s forgery and that the subgequent
mortgage to Yan Pun end the sale by him to the defendant
were void.

The defendsar plended estoppel snd alleged that the
Plaictif had contemporaneous kmowledge of and consented to
the lmpersonation of T4 Woon Mam.

At the trial before Wood, Acting G. J., it was deeided
that the question of estoppel should zemain in abevance until
en issue had been wied a3 to whether or mot the plsinii® had
juch contemporanecus koowledge.

Judgreent oo this issue wes delivered on 8.8.33.

Held: The plaintif did tn fact have such eontemperansous
Imawledge.

Lesve was given for sither party to move the Court far
flonl Jodement at a later date.

Accordingly on  13.8.37 the defendant moved for fimal
jndzment.

On the hearing of the motion the plaintiff, by leeve of the
Court, flled a reply to the defendant’s plea of estoppel, in which
she alleged that even if she had contemporansous lmowledge of
the  impersonation, nevertheless the defendant, through  his
solicitors, hod received notice of the forgery before payment of

the purchase price to the mortgagee.

The final judgment of Wood, Acting C. J. was delivered
on 22.E6.33.

Held: (1) At ke time when the defendant’s salicltors
teceived notice of the forgery, the assignment kad been exesutad
by both parties. The solicitors therefore held the purchasa
price as ageata solely for the morigagen who alome was entitled
o claim it.

(2} That as the plaintif had not been sable to invalidate
the morigages she was estopped from invalidating the defendant’s
title.

Judgrent for defendant with cogts.

On appeal to the Pull Court, MacGregor, C. J. and Lindsell,
J. ageinst both judgments in the Court below, the decison

of the trial judwe wes affizmed and the appeal dismissed with
Costs.

Sheldon (&’ Almade with him) instructed by Lo & Lo for

. plaintiff,

Potter, K.C. (Jenkin, £.C. with him) instructed by Hastings

d& Co. for defendant.

TN T e,

Note:—The plaintif appealed to the Privy Council which
dismissed the appeal with costs (10.10.35).
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3 HONGRONG LAW REFORTS
.J&:Ess. WooD, ACTNG C.J. . who er
Lo sm, | T0e Plamt® Li Tse Shi is a widow aged 61 years, el
Apmmers-  resident in Toi Shan village in the Provimee of Ewsngtung, o .
JBTRX China. Her late husband Li Woon Nam died in Toi Shan o 3 Rropers
W . or about 19th April, 1925. Presumably because they were .‘rl};rm._;
Il *IiWoon without a son Li Woon Nam and his wife adopted many years -3 erse:
“ ) pNax  ago, 2 sou mamed after adopting, Li Kai Loi This adoption aecurrs
. CEASED ) . . will to.
1 avp  was not of 2 blood relation, but was made by purchase from : the A=
Pog Usor outside the family. During his lifetime Li Woon Nam. as also N the.
did his adopted son, Spent some time in America and acquired ; Od : e, i
there some wealth. Both father and son possessed passports. :hm:r‘:\;
Li Woon Nam returned to this Colony from America in 192¢. & re
He wes introduced by a relative to Ng Iu Hon who became t‘P‘E c?
thereupon a trusted friend of Li Woon Nam and of hiz family. :‘1 . the Cf
Ng Iu Hon was at that time the owner of premises 73 Bonham o?e' o:.
Strand West. The premises were occupied by the L'n Lung y gam:..
Shing Arm in which firm Ng Iu Hon was a partner. ii Woon ] t: Ea‘p
: Nam was seeking sn investment for his money. By an co
; assignment dated 1lth October, 1924, Ng In Hom =old the r%ril:“
‘ premises to Li Woon Nam. Ng Iu Hon (or the Un Lung S o i
Shing firm) then became the temant of the purchaser. The grmfl'
] title deeds held by Li Woon Nam were two in number, namely, \Te:r;:
the earlier assignment to Ng Iu Hon and the assignment by 15 out
Ng Iu Hon to Li Woon Nam already mentioned. Li Woon vas 1z
Nam returned to Toi Shan with these two title deeds. The ':he de.
rent (subject to approved deductions) was remitted to him 3 s
in Toi Shan by Ng In Hon, who was both his temsnt and 3 O
his agent to collect rent. Li Woon Nam kept his papers in sn =3 title
American trunk, locked by a padiock, for which he kept two ‘;'::: Hung
keys, duplicate keys. In addition to the two title deeds of o by sor
| the premises in Hong Kong he had also Chinese deeds of Htle .3 This £
: for property in China. In the same box also were deposited x ae -
the two passports—his own and his son's: and two “chops” 7 Ia Ho
_l: each bearing his name, one of which was used by him in 3 fromh
copnection with his Hong Kong aFairs and the other in - %1_11-: ‘
connection with his affairs in China. At Toi Shan, Li Woon :- e..czczz
-' Nam lived in his family house with his wife, his son and R A
his son's family. At the present time his son hes five children E deed;
I
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BONGEONG LAW REPORTS T

who are still living with their grandmother, the plaintif. On
the 13th April, 1925, Li Woon Nam in anticipation of his
death made a Chinese will. He thereby begueathed all his
property to his wife “to administer and control and enjoy all
“privileges thereof” with power to “deal with these properties
“herzelf” without interfersnce. Before his death, which
occurred on or about 19th April he handed to his wife this
will together with all the documents and things deposited in
the American trunk and with five keys including both keys
of the trunk padlock. The widow, the plaintiff, thereafter
administered the property. Nz Iu Hon accounted to her for
the rent of the premises in Hooy Kong—remitting to her in
the country. In January, 1929, Ng Iu Hon at the end of
the Chinese year surrendered his tenancy in accordanee with
one of the terms of the |ease. Ng In Hon as agent for the
plaintiff, secured a new tenant so that there might be no
break im the occupation of the premises. He also continued
to collect the rent and to remit it to the plaintif. Rent was
remitted every mooth by Ng Iu Hon throughout the period

of his agency. In correspondence with Ng Iu Hon about these
premises the plaintif used the “chop” for Eong Kong affairs,
hearing her hnsband's name, which her husband had ieft to her.
No representstion either in Hong Kong or in Chins was taken
put to her husband’s estate. By all parties concerned action
was taken as though no change in ownership had resulted from
the death of Li Woon Nam,

On a day, a few days before the 24th March, 1930, the two
title deeds of these premises were produced in Hong Kong to
Hung Hing Kam, a solicitor, in the firm of Messrs. Deacons,
by some person unknown who was impersonating Li Woon Nam.
This person was introduced to Hung Hing Kam by Li Kai Lei,
who himself had been introduced to Hung Hing Xam by Ng
Iu Hon. Li Xal Lol purported to purchase the said premises
from Li Woon Nam. On the instructions of both vender and
purchaser Hung Hing Kam prepared an assignment by Li
Woon Nam to Li Eai Lol which on the 24th March, 1930, was
executed and was later registered in the Land Office. On the
Tth April, 1930, Hung Hing Kam returned the two earlier
deeds with the new assighment to Li Kai Loi.
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8 HONGEKONG LAW REPORTS

The plaintiff has informed the Couxt that the only proper
custody of these deeds was in herself, that she kept them under
cover in a top tray of her trunk, that she put them in that

or Place when she first received them from her husband before

his death, that she habitually wore the keys of the box on
her persom, that she had not misseq the deeds in March 19380
and that in fact she did not see the deeds from the date on
which she received them until July, 1931

The. location of these deeds of title between the 7¢h April,
1930, and a date in April, 1931, remains undisclosed by evidence.
On or before the 13th April, 1931, Li Kai Loi came again to
Hung Hing Eam. He stated then that he had logt the deeds.
On the 18th April, 1931, he executed two documents prepared
on his instructions by Hung Hing Xam, firstly a statutory
deciaration setting out the circumstances in which he alleged
the deeds to have heen lost and secondly, a power of attorney
to his cousin Li Hip Loi. Lj Hip Loi is the son of Lij Chenk
Nam, who is an elder brother of Li Woon Nam and resides
in Hong Kong. Li Kai Loi asked Hung Hing Kam to find
a morigage for the property, hut m the absence o the title
deeds Hung Hing Kam refused to do this, unless with a
guarantee. Ineidentally Hung Hing Kam asked Ng [u Hon,
speaking on the telephone, to guarantee a mortgage by Li Kai
Loi, which Ng Iu Hon declined to do.

Later in the same month Lij Hip Loi produced the
statutory declaration and the power of attorney to Messrs.
Wilkinson & Grist, solicitors. He instructed them to prepare
a mortgage of the premises and introduced an intended
mortgagee, Yan Pun. This mortgage weas executed on the 20th
April, 1931, and was registered in the Land Office.

Further, a4 second mortgage was executed on the 1st May,
1931, with which the present Proceedings are not concerned,

The intevest on the first mortgage was not paid on due
date. The mortgagee instructed Messrs. Wilkinson & QGrist
to exercise the power of sale under the mortgage The premises
were advertised to be sold hy the mortgage at an anchon to
be held on the 23rd July, 1931, at 3 Dun.

Up to this date Ng Iu Hon had collected the rent without
interruption and had remitted it to the plaintif,

TN T Aadm WM
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HONGKONG Law BEPORTS -}

On this date the plaintif wag away {rom home with a 1;7s Sm1, i
sick grandchild in Canton, arranging for medical treatment. Am E
Ng Iu Hon came down from Canton to Hong Kong by the

WITH TIE il
morning traiu, arriving after 12 noon. He was at once informed , Wmc o g
; of the advertised sale and togk prompt action on behalf of his LzNWouN [
principal, the plaintiff. Diceaszn :
;. He called upon Maurice Murray Watson, a solicitor in poﬂﬂm i
the firm of Messrs. Johnson, Stokes ang Master; asked him  Cenvg

to stop the sale, if possibie: paid him $3,000.00 in cash go
3 that he might have money to meet suma acerued due under

the mortgage: and arranged for the produgtion of the title
deeds at the auction room. This solicitor attended at the
auction room. The three deeds of title, ineluding the assign.
ment to LI Kai Loi, wera produced to him by Wong Wa Kong,
who is the father-in-law of Li Kai Loi. Ths solicitor inspected
the deeds. The mortgage was represented at the sale by
Messrs. Wilkinson and Grist. The request for the postponement

of the sale was refused. I 'will refrain from ecomment upon
the mortgagee's conduci.

The sale proceeded. The defendant became the purchaser.
¢ Subsequently to the auction Messrs, Wilkinson and Grist acted
: for both vendor angd purchaser, The deed of assignment to
' the purchaser was executed on the 6th August, 1931

The three deeds of title which on the 23rd July had been
produced by Wong Wa Kong remained in his custody.

|
f

o A

L

On the 23rd July after the auction sale Ng Iu Hon Wwrote
a letter to Li Tsau Loj 4 nephew of the plaintiff ip Toi Shan .
enclosing a further letter to the piaintif in which he asked
her to come to Hong Kong in connection with the matter. This
letter reached Li Tsay Loi on the 25th July. The plaintiff
was in Canton. She recejveq her letter there on the 2Tth July,
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of the 28th July.

On her return she has stated (and on this point 1 believe
her) that she found her son Li Kai Loj at home, had g
conversation with him and beat him Jeverely. Since that date

she says thst she has not geen him; and this statement tog,
T see no resson o doubt.
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HONGEONG LaAW REPORTS

Lz T3t Smy, She further says that on that
m‘ trunk and became for the first

WITR THE her title deeds,
WL

ANNEXED oF On the afternoon of the same day, the 28th July, a person A
Lt WooN named Wong Yui who had been sent by Wong Wa Kong, arrived .
mﬁ‘m from Hong Kong and hapdeg to the plaintif & bundle of

g’
AND documents, three or four, which she supposed to be her title i
Poggn?é ! deeds restored tg her.

She came at once to Hong Kong bringing these documents

with her and artiving on the 29th July. She stayed in s
boarding house,

On the 30tk July she interviewed Li Cheuk Nam,

On the 31st July she did so again; and on the afterncon

of that day visiteq Ng Iu Hon in his shop in Wing Lok Street,
Wong Wa Kong wag there present.

While she was in this shop a solicitor from Messrs,
Wilkinson and Grist, accompanied hy his interpreter Waj Po
Cheung, arrived. They demanded ifrom Wonz Wa Eong the
deeds which he hag produced at the auction room. In the

hearing of the plaintiff Wong Wa Kong stated that these deeds
had been sent to the country.

On the 6th August, 1931, the plaintif consujteq ber present
solicitor, Lo Map Kam.

. e

From the plaintiffs interview with Io Man Kam these
broceedings originated, K obtaized for her op the 4th
December, 1981, letters of administration with will annexed

to her late husband’s estate The present writ was issued ]
on the 15th December, 13833,

The plaintif here agks that the deed of assignment by
Li Woon Nam to Lj Xaj Loj dated 24th

void; and consequently also all trq
property deriving validity therefrom.

— Vit ; et X "- . . _l.: = CC )T O KA F 2
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HONGRONG LAW REPORTS i1

At this trial the defendent has relied wholly upon the plea
that the plainti# s estopped by her own conduct from
questioning the validity of the assignment.

inst the - Hlaintie - thst 'she. had

The ocnus of proving the allegation of Imowledge rests upon
the defendant and if that onus be not discharged the plaintiff
must here succeed.

At this point T am in the place of a jury.

1 have it in mind that impersonation in legal matters of
one member of a family by another, where the interests of
the family as & whole are not thereby damaged, is not regarded
in the circle to which the plaintiff belongs as culpable. Still
less i it s0 regarded when sueh impersonatien is adopted to
safeguard the family's interests.

In the course followed in this trial the plaintifi’s evidence
came first. She affizms that the deeds of title were abstracted
from her custody without her knowledge. In the Spring of
1930, according to her evidence, Li Kai Loi (Li Hip Loi being
with him) obtained from her on one occasion the keys to the
American trunk and had access to the trunk in her absence
in order to imke out his passport,

The question of fact to be decideq is whether having regazd
to all the evidence before the Court her story is discredited.

That it is probable that she had knowledge of the actual
events as they happened is shown by the following facts.
Actording to her own statement the plaintiff herself from
April 1925 to July 1931 kept carefully in her custody the
duplicate keys of the trunk in which the deeds were deposited.
With the one exception ‘already referred to by her in her
evidence no ome but herself opened the trunk. The trunk

was kept on the first floor in a living room. 1t was in

nse by the plainkiff — ghe kept clothes in it of her
own (sccording to her evidence these were clothes which she
did not. wear). Quite apart from a1y business relating to
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HONGEONG LAW REFORTS

L: Tse Sm, Property in China she went to the box regularly sach month
ADMDTS  to tpke put the “chop” employed to issue acknowledgments for
W%ng rent received from the property in Hong Xong. In these

WIL  ireumstances it seems prima facié unlikely that the abstraction
Lr Woozgr of these deeds could have taken place without her consent or

Nay v . .
Decgazep  Chat the absence of the deeds couwld have remained undiscovered
by her,
Powng Tsor . B ..
Carve Further, the assignment here questioned, though it is

apparent that amang its purposes was to avoid the intricacies
of the Probate Jurisdiction of the Court and the payment of
estate duty, is not otherwise characterised by fraud. The
assignment itself involved legal costs amounting to $350.00.
The assignes, if he i3 to be suspected of fraud, at this time
notably after this expenditure postponed attempting t{o make
any profit for himself for 13 months. Also the bona fidez of
the assigmee at this time is evidenced by the fact that the
deeds of title did not remain in his custedy and that when 13
months later he designed the fraudulent mortgage the deeds
were not avajlable to him. On the day of the auction sale of
the property by the mortgagee the deecs were still in the
hands of persons who were holding them for the Tamily of
Li Woon Nam and not for his fraudulent son. On the oceasion
when instructons were given to Messrs. Deacons with refersnce
to the assignment itself, Li Kai Lai was introduced to the
solicitor by Ng Iu Hon nimself, the trusted, and in my opinion,
trustworthy friend of the family. I notice also that the date
of this assignment comes shortly after the property was brought
to the attention of the family by the first change in tenancy
since the death of Li Woon Nam. For these reasons it seems
more likely that the assignment was, s¢ far as the internal
administration of family property is concerned, executed in
good faith. Such 2 decision would be usually reached after
% conference of all the elder members of the family.

I am not impressed by the Plaintiff’s statement that ghe
kept the “chops” concealed in the trunk ander her clothing
and not in the tray with the documents,

The defendant claims o have shown not merely that the

, plaintiff is likely to have known of the impersonation but that
] she did in fact know.

|
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The plaintlf would establish her ignorance of the
assizTiment to the Court by reference to her castigation of
her son on the 28th July, 1921, but her violemce may be more
probably attributed to her discovery of her son’s subsequent
dealings with the property in fraud of his family.

It is suggested that her knowledge is shown by her own
gctions in Hong Kong after her discovery of the auction sale
of the property.

So far as the story told in court goes, she on her awn
initiative visited Li Cheuk Nam in Hong Kong on the 30th
and 31st July 1931. Li Cheuk Nam was her husband’s eider
brother and the father of Li Hip Loi who was the donee of
the power of attorney given by LI Kai Lol Later in the
second day she was taken to a police ststion. Her intention
both in the house and in the police station was to lay 2
complaint against Li Hip Loi. She herself has stated that
she complained that Li Hip Loi had induced her son to steal
her title deeds and sell her property fraudulently. On the
other hand, the two police officers who have given evidence
for her say that her complaint was merely that Li Hip Loi
had induced her son te come to Hong Kong and to sigm &
document by means of which her property had been sold. It
in clear to Tne in spite of her own statement to the contrary
that she was not then allezing a theft of title deeds by her
son, and it is a reasonable inference that she must have known
throughout that her son had not stolen the deeds ctherwise she
would have included the theft in her report.

Again, later in the same afternoen, she was in Ng Tu Hon’s
shop. I may say here that I do not found any comclusion upon
avidence give for the defendant to prove that om this occasion
she made 2 certain request to a solicitor’s interpreter; but
thers is ome matter of interest in the evidence abent the
interview between the interpreter to Messrs, Wilkinson and
Grist and Ng Iu Hon. In the hearing of the plaintiff Ng Tu
Hon is reported to have said "This {s a matter between uncle
“and nephew.” In fact, this mesnt that Li Kai Loi &8s
representative of his family must settle accounts with his uncle
Li Cheuk Mam whose son was the originator of the fraud.
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HONGEONG LAW HREPORTS

L2 Tse Smr, If the thoughts of those concerned had on this occasion been
“aamngz directed back to a theft 16 months earlier of the family deeds
wom tmE by Li Kai Loi, the problem could not have been so deseribed.
amexzp or Both the plaintif and incidentally Ng Iu Hon would seem
e to have been well aware that the deeds had not been stolen.

Dzmﬁa In addition to these consideration I noted as s
Powe Tsor curious fact thet the actual assignment in question was last
admitted by any witness to have been seen in the auction room
on the 23rd July, 1931. It was then not in the possession of
2 person concerned in the frawd but of a person who was
intervening to prevent further corsequences flowing from the
fraud. Other title deeds then in the same possession reached
Lo Man Kam, her solicitor, through the piaintif on the 5th
Avgust. The assignment to Li Kai Loi itself has not been
fortheoming. These circumstances suggest that it has been
suppressed and suppressed in the interest of the plaintiff in
these proceedings who is attacking its validity.
Fortheseirpasons [ fird that the ¢ontemporaheous kmowledge ¥
O}ty frupersonation has” been- brougit -homie by the evidenie
the plaintier” ¢
This issce of fact was the only issue submitted for trial
by the plaintiff's counsel when he opened his case. That the
conduct of the plaintiff, if this issune were decided against
her, formed a basis of estoppel as pleaded by the defendant,
' was not then questioned. The evidence was allowed to cover
& somewhat ample filed, so that the Court might have before
it 2 complete story; but witnesses werg called and examined
on this issue of fact omly. It was not until his fnal address
that the plaintifa counsel raised any argument upon the law

of estoppel. I want this position to be placed here clearly upon
i record.

If the parties had addressed thergselves to the law of
estoppel no doubt evidence would kave been tendered to bring
the defendant’s case within the precedent of Tsang Chuen v.
Li Po Kwei {1). Evidence might have followed to establish
an estoppel upon an estoppel.
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I have decided in these circumstances to place on record L:Tsg Smy,
here my decision of fact already set out, ieaving it to either ADMINI-

party to move the Court for final judgment after further WHE YEE
- congideration of the matter.

ANUEXIED OF
. The present judgment must be regarded as a judgment I"NWWN
. cn an issue of fact and the plaintif must pay the defendant’s Decrases

costs of the trial of this izaue. Pmﬁﬂ?rsm
i CHmc
Woon, Acting C.J. 1583
; . ' . . June 22
Following upon my judgment dalivered herein on the 8th

June last, the defendant has here moved the Court for final
judgment.

On the hearing of the motion the defendant has called
evidence with reference to the search in the Register of Deeds
in the Hong Kong Land Office conducted by Messrs. Wilkinson
and Grist. They used the record of this search in the pre-
paration both of the mortgage from Li Kai Loi to Yan Pun
dated 24th April, 1931, and of the assignment by Yan Pun
to the defendant dated 6th August, 1331.

This evidence coupled with that previously given estabiishes
the estoppel pleaded in paragraph 2 of the statement of
defence (see Tsong Chuen v. Li Po Kwai, supra).

In order to meet this position the plaintif has in the
course of the hearing of the motion been allowed to file a
reply. By her reply she has contended that this sstoppel is
defeated by certain circumstances.

i In paragraph 1 of the reply it is pleaded that even if
- the piaintiff in fact had such knowledge and had consented, as
she is alleged to have done, nevertheless, the defendant through
his agents, Messrs. Wilkinson and Grist, had received “before
“payment of the purchase price to the vendor Yan Pun” full
notice and information of facts contained in o letter dated
thke 6th August, 1931, written by Messrs. Lo and Lo, the
soiicitors on behalf of the plaintiff.

With reference to this first portion of the copy 1 find
that the notice contained in this letter did not in fact reach
Messrs. Wilkinson and Grist “before the payment of the
“purchase price to the vendor Yan Pun.” The letter arrived
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Li Tag Smi, at the office of Measrs. Wilkinson and Grist at a point of time

Cmwg deeds for the purchaser and the consideration for the vendor.

For this reason the first portion of the reply, in my opinion,
fails.

t

ADMINIS-  when the purchase money was still in their custody: huat the t:

wik 7ax deed having been executed by both parties they were then £
s oe custodians of the money as ageats golely for the vendor. The t

Lt Woorr vendor alone could claim the money from them. They were b b

x Dresaszn 28eUts for both parties in the transachon: and after execn- ; Te
T

d

C.

e -
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A further answer to the same portion of the reply is
that whatever notice may have reached the purchaser on the
6th August, 1931, such nobtice will not operate v disentitle
: him as purcheser {rom the mortgeges unless it can be shown
; also that the mortgagee was affected by like potice. The reply

does not ailege that the morfgagee was afected by any notice
contained in this letter.

w
ey

b

@ . AND tion of the sssignmeunt by both parties, the solicitors held the
= K Powe Tso1
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X The remainder of the reply amounts to this, that Messrs. _ -
! Wilkinson and Grist, the soliciters for the defendant, during u
? the period from the 23rd July, 1931, to the 6th August, 1931, J b
R obtained knowledge which should have put them on enquiry e Pt
JHIE for flaws in the title to the property, that they omitted the 2 n
: l . proper enquiries, and that their knowledge and their omission o
st became, in the circumstances swhich arose, the knowledge and &
% ‘ the omission of the defendant himself, thereby affecting the 3
' I ! defendant with notice of all flaws existing in the title that n
L ilE might on due enquiry have been revealed. ;0
For the defendant it has been submitted that this ui
argument is unsound. th
It will be agreed that the knowledge of an agent will "f'-t

' only become notice to his principal where a legal duty lies ¥ P
upon the agent to communicate such knowledge to his principal: C 3y It
and basing his position upon the case of Taylor v. Blacklow :

(1) the defendant's counssl has here contended that so

far from there being a duty on Messrs. Wilkinson and
Grist to inform their client, the purchaser, of the faws re

in the fitle. it would have been a hreach of their own duty

{1} (1838) 3 Bing. N.C. 235,
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to the vendor, who was also their client, so to inform Lt Tse Smi
the purchaser. The case cited is, however, not an authority APMDUS-
for the proposition that a sellcitor acting simultaneously for wrrs TER
two parties and flnding himself under conflicting dubies .. 0L

becomes relieved from the performance of one duty by the Li Woow
fact that be is, by performing it, in breach of his other duty. Nt

The solicitor’s ecourse in these circumstances ia clearly laid Por aat
down for him in the case cited in the judgment of Tindal, ~ Cmme

C.J. -(see p. 248)—The solicitor must retire in silence from 5
both duties. It seems to me that Messrs. Wilkdnson and Grist l
were under the duty to disclose to the purchaser all material
information in their possession however derived and whether
acquired before they became his agents or afterwards (see ;
judgment of Vaughan Williams, L.J. in Young v. David Payne H
& Co., Limited) (L).

Other submissions made for the defendant, which are in

my view effective are these. Firstly, that this information

. did not operate to invalidate the mortgage to Yan Pun and,

: until the mortgage is invalidated, the title of the purchaser

from the rmortgagee remains unaffected by notice to the

purchaser and absolutely good. Secondly, that the knowledge

in Juestion could not have initiated an inquiry which would

_ have ted to the discovery of the impersonation of Li Woon Nam,

Q5 and is therefore not notice of that impersonation — which is

here the conly material mis-conduct; and further, even if it

might have so led, yet it is not open to the present plaintiff

to rely upon such notice, hecause she has been found already

by the Court to have been as lately as 31st July, 1931—indeed,

until the 5th August, 1931-—actively co-operating in concealing
this very impersonation from persoms concerned in this sale.

Thirdly, that there was no omission of enquiry on the
part of Messrs. Wilkinson and Grist, who were on the 3lst
July still endeavouring to trace the decuments of title which
nad been shown to them ai the auction sale of the properiy.

For these reasons it seema tp me that the estoppel which
rests upon the plaintiff is not defeated by any counter-estoppel.

[ give final judgment for defendant with costs.
(1} (1904) L.R. 2 Ch. 816
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ON APPEAL TO THE FurL Counrt.
MAcGREGOR, Chief Justice,

In this case the plaintiff, appellant, Li Tee Shi, sued as
Lt Tt SaL administratrix of the estate of Li Woon Nam who died in '
m' 1925, having among the property premises situate at 73 Ronham
Wie THE Strand West in the city of Victoria. On the 24th Maxrch, 1930
AroEs op an indenture of assignment was registered in the Land Ofce
Lr Woov whereby Li Woon Nam purported to assign these premises to
Dgg:f‘un Li Kai Loi, who was the adopted son of the deceased Ii Woon

AND Nam and his widow the plaintiff.
Powg Tsot

CrivG On 20th April, 1981, the premises were mortgaged by Li
Bai Loi to Yan Pun and on 23rd July the morizagee Yan Pun

in exercise of his Power of sale sold the premises to the
defendant, respondent, Pong Tsoi Ching. :

1334
Apri 14.

R L L :

In these cirenmstanees the plaintif claimed a declaration
' that no interest in the premises passed to Li Kaj Loi by
virtue of the assignment of 24th March, 1830, that the mortgage

te Yan Pun and a second mortgage dated 1st May, were null . ,;}‘: ;
end void and of no legal effect, and that the purchase by the RN
defendant respandent from the first mortgagee was also nyl] x
and void. '5'

By his defence the Tespondent claimed that the appellant ﬁ

was estopped from denying his title to the bremises in that
. she consented te the. impersonation of Lj Woon Nam in
conpection with the assignment of 24th March, 1930,

i
v

Z
e
The case came hefore Wood, J., sitting without a jury on S

: 29th May, 1933 and after a fve days’ hearing the learned
) wial judge on 8th June, 1933, delivered a judgrment on fact
in which he found that the plaintif's contemporaneoys

koowledge of the assignment had beep established to his
satisfaction.

On 13th June the defendant moved for fina) judgment. In e
the course of the argument the plaintig obtained leave to fle

& reply In which she Pleaded that if she knew of and consented
to the impersonation i

R
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in o letter dated Gth August, 1991, from Messrs, Lo and Lo L Tse Sz
to Messrs, Wilkinson and Grist, which after relating the death ADMINIE-

of Li Woon Nam in 1925 continued thug:-— vn%-r;x HE
WL
“Tt is obvious that since Li Woon Nam died in 1925 he QWD O

“could not possibly have executed any assignment in 1980, and Nax
“gll dealings with the property thereafter must be fraudulent Dﬂﬁﬂm
*and void.” Pong Tsox

On 22nd June, 1933, Wood, T, gave finsl judgment for the
defendant. From both these judgments appellant appeals, on
the grounds that in the former the learned trial judge has
drawn erroneous and unwarranted deduetions on issues of fact,
and that in the latter he has come to a wrong conclusion in law,

This Court, before hearing arpument on the appeal, took
the evidence of Mr. Hugh Jones s material witness whose
evidence was not available at the trial in the Court below.

The plaintiff's case was that after her husband’s death,
she, being illiterate and inexperienced In European husiness
matters, kept the title deeds relating to her late husband’s

. property, in a covered tray on top of a larze American trunk.
3 In the seme trunk, undernesth the tray, she kept the chops of
her husband, which she had occasion to use every month, The
trunk was locked and she kept the keys safely. Though, as
I have said, she opened the trunk every month she states that
she never had occssion to lift the lid of the tray in which
she had placed the title deeds, she was, she says, unaware of
the disappearance of the title deeds of the Bomham Strand
property until 28th July, 1931, when in consequence of informa-
) tion which she then received she opened the tray of the trunk
T and found that the deeds were missing. On the aftermoon of
the same day the deeds were handed to her by a mmessenger
from Wong Wa Kong, the father-in-law of Ti Kai Loi.

T

On one occasion, and on one oceasion only, in the Spring
of 1930, she parted with the keys of the trunk. She then
handed them to Li Kai Lei, who was accompanied by his cousin
Ii Hip Loi. When they went to open the trunk she left the
TOOT.

In Msarch, 1930, Li Kai Loi in Hong Kong asked Ng Iu
Hon, who collected the rents of this property and remitted them

AT A 9k ATRZ PGR + AT AT ST
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L1 Tes Sz, monthly to the plaintiff, to introduce him to a solicitor. Ng :
m Iu Hon thereupon took Li Kai Loi to Bung Hing Kam a solicitor
v e in the firm of Mesars. Deacons, and later Li Kai Lo returned

amem o 0 Hung Hing Kam accompanied by an unknown man who 3
Lt WooN posed as Li Woon Nam, who had then, been dead for years. An
Decoasen  8S8lgmment was preparved by which Li Woon Nam purported :

AND to sell the premises to Li Kai lLoi, This assignment was d
Ceme  executed on 24th Mereh, 1930, and was duly registered iy the %
‘ Land Office. On Tth April, 1930, Hung Hing Kam gave the :
: I . new assignment and the two old title deeds to Li Kai Loi.

Thirteen months later in April, 1331, Li Eei Lol spain ealled
. on Hung Hing Kam. He stated he was enxious to mortgage
! the property but he had lost the title deeds. He then executed
two documents, g statutory declaration explaining the
circumstances in which he had lost the deeds, and 2 power of
attorney in favour of his cowsin Li Hip Loi. He then asked
Hurg Hing Kam to endeavour to find a mortgazee, but Hung
! Hing Kam declined to do anything in the matter without a
guaraniee. Hung Hing Kam actually telephoned to Ng Iu Hon
! and asked him if he would guarantee a mortgage by Li Kai Loi,

; but Nz Iu Hon declined tg do so,

Later that month Li Hip Loi called upon Messrs. Wilkineon
| and Grist. He introduced Yan Pun as en intending mortgagee,
produced the statutory declarstion and power of attormey and
instructed that firm to prepare a deed of imortgage. This
mortgage was executed on %0th April, 1931, and registered in
the Land Office.

. On 1lst May, 1981, = second mortgage was executed, the
mortgagee being Ho So Ching whe appears to be the wife 3
of the first mortgagee Yan Pun.

| Interest on the first mortgage in respect of the first two
1 months of its curreney was not paid, and the mortgagee in
exercise of hiz power of sale, acting through Messrs. Wilkinson
and Grist, had the premises advertised for sale at aa auction
to be held on 28rd July, 1931, at 3 p.m.

Afbuut Loon on that day Ng Iu Hon arrived in Hong Kong
from Canton. He wag shown an adverticement of the intended
sale and took immediate 8teps to postpone the sale. He went

PR R p prpp————— It dm A Ch-JT  BRAZAMC_C?
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first to Messrs. Wilkinson and Grist and saw Mr. Hugh Jones LiTss Sm,

who has sworn that Ng told him that Li Kai Loi was owner A-r:ﬂ::x?

of the property. IHe calied upon Messrs. Johnson Stokes and wrra Tax
Master and asked Mr. Wataon to sceompany him to the sales  WOL

ANNEXED OF

room and endesvour to stop the ssle, L:NWQDH
A

The events of that afternoon in the auction room are to Doceasn

me of great interest and of the utmost importance, Mr. Watson ppye Teor
was assisted by his intexrpreter Wong Chak Nam, and Wg Iu  Came

Hon, and ome Li Sik Tso were also present. $3,000 were
produced and handed to Mr. Watson who offered that sum {o
the mortgagee in payment of interest due and the costs of the
sale. The mortgagee was willing and ready to take that sum
and call the sale off, but he was advised by Mr. Huph Jones
not to postpone the sale unless he got a substantial sum in
reductlon of the principal debt,

Where the $3,000 came from we do not know. Mr. Watson’s
recolleetion is that the money was given to him by Ny Iu Hon:
Ng Iu Hon states that the money was produced by I.i Sik Tsa:
and Li Sik Tso does net disclose the source from which the
money was derived. He states that he telephoned fo Wong Wa
Xoop snd asked him for the money. Wonz Ka Kong stated
that the title deeds were with him, but he did not supply the
meney nor had Li Sik Tso encugh money himself.

The sale proceeded and the property was purchased by Peng
Tsoi Ching, the defendant respondent, for the sum of $77,000.

The missing title deeds were produced by Wong Wa Kong,
the father-in-law of Li Ksi Loi

After the sale Ng Iu Hon went to the plaintif and asked
her to come and discuss the matter with him. She eame at
once to Hong Kong bringing with her the title deeds which
she had received from Wong Wa Kong opn 28th July.

On 30th July and again on the morning of 8lst July, she
visited Li Cheuk Nam, the brother of Li Woon Nam deceased,
and apparently made such o nuizance of herself that Li Cheualk
Nam sent for the police and had her removed. She herself
has stated that both to Li Cheuk Nam in his house and to the
police she complained of the theft of her title deeds: the two
police officers who were called, on the other hand, testify that

——r e e -~ LT
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Li Tss Sm, her complaint was egainst Li Hip Loi, who, she said, had
ADMINIS:  induced her son to come to Hong Kong and execute a document
wIrE THE in comsequence of which the property had been sojd.

ANNEXED oF That afternoon she visited Ng Iu Hon in his shop in Wing
Nax Lok Street, Wong Wz Kong being also present. The shop was
Decuasew  visited by Mr. Hugh Jones and his interpreter. Mr, Hugh Jones
Paxe Tsor has sworn that while he was in the shop the plaintiff came up
CEme 4o him, bowed, and said to him ‘“Please get back my son’s
“property.” The plaintif entirely denies this story, and is
supported in her denial by Ng Iz Hon. It is true that Mr.

Hugh Jones was dependent for his knowledge of what was

said to him on an interpreter, but he cannot have been Innocently

mistaken a3 to the plaintiff coming up to him and bowing to

aim, and in 2 letter dated 6th August, 1931, addressed to Messrs.

Lo and Lo and written when Mr. Rugh Jones’ recollection of

the incident waa quite fresh, reference is made to plaintiff

being present in Ng Iu Hon’s shop and there making a statement.

Let us pause at this point and consider what deductions
and inferences cen properly be drawn from the conduet of the
parties, always bearing in mind that it ig for the defendant
to satisfy the Court that plaintiff was aware of the assienment.

As the learned trial judge sat without a jury the hesring
in this Court is of the nature of a rehearing (Coughlan v,
Cumberland) (1) but that broad statement is subject to certain
qualifications. The Court will ever leap in favour of a finding
of fact by a judge who has had the advantage of seeing ang
hearing the wimesses and forming an impression of their
credibility from their demesnour and conduct in the witness box.
The position is put thus by Lord Summer in

S.S. Hontestroom v.
8.§. Sagaporack and 5.5. Hontestroom v. 8.5. Durham Castie
(2).

“What then is the real efact on the hearing in a Court
“of Appeal of the fact that the trial judge saw and heard the
“witnesses? I think it has somewhat been lost sight of. Of
“course, there is jurisdiction to retry the case on the shorthand
“note, including in such retrial the appreciation of the relative
“values of the witnmesses, for the appeal is made a rehearing

(1} (1898) L Ch. 704, (2} L.R. 1827 A.C. 47,
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“by rules which have the force of statute: Order LXVITL., LrTas Sa,
“r.1. It is not, however, a2 mere matter of discretion to ADMINIE-
“remember and take account of this faets: it is o matter of wmR IBE
“justice and judicial obligstion. Ncone the less, mot to have .,.,"gﬁ.{; oF
“seen the witnesses puts appellate judges in a pertmanent L! Woon
“pogition of disadvantage as against the trizl judee, and unless | D4
“it can be shown that he has failed to use, or has palpably Powgn?rso:
“misused his advantage, the higher court ought not to take CEmNG
“the responsibility of reversing conclusions so arrived at, merely

“on the result of their own comparisons and criticisms of the
“witnesses and of their own view of the prababilities of the

“case. The course of the trial and the whole substance of

“the juézment must be looked at, and the matter does nat

“depend on the question whether a witness has been cross

_ “examined to credit or hes been pronounced by the judge in

“terms to be unworthy of it. If his estimate of the man

: “forms any substantisl part of his reasons for his Judgment

“the trial judge's conciusions of faet should, as I understand

“the decisioms, be let alone. In the Juliz (1) Lord Kingsdown

H “says: ‘“They, who require this Board, under such circumstances,

“to reverse a deecision of the Court, below on s point o7 thig
“description, undertake a task of great and almost insuperable

“ifficulty . . . . We must, in order fo reverse, not merely
“entertain doubts whether the decision below is right, but be
“convinced that it is wromg’. Wood, L.J., in The Alige, (2)

“says: ‘The principle established by the decision in The Julla

“(supre) is most singularly applicable. ... We should require

“evidence that would be overpowering in its efect on our
“judgment with reference fo the incredibility of the statement

“made’. Jawes, L.J., thus laid down the practice in The Sir

“Robert Peel. (3) “The Court will not depart from the ryle

“it has Jaid down that it will not overrule the decision of the

“Court below on a question of fact in which the judge has had

“the advantage of seeing the witnesses and observing their
“demeanour, unless they find some governing fact which in

“relation to others has created a wrong impression’.”
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(1) (1860) 14 Moa. P.C. 210, 235, jili:
(2) (1868) L.R. 2 P.L. 243, 248, ]
(3) (1880) 4 Asp. M.L.C. 321, spa.
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Co LiTseSm.  Applying these principles I was sutisfied that the learned 7 nge
o ADMINIS  tria] judge came to a proper and justifiable conclusion on the o Fus:
A ' wirm e evidence before him. Having regard to the fact that this Court i dee;:
.A J mwmnl- op 088 had the advantage of the evidence of Mr. Hugh Jones I Vi nroT
.. L1 Woon go further and say that any other conclusion would have meant o it
o Dol aining the evidence unduly in favour of the plamtif. 1f ‘ offic, -
- P, o, hler story is true we have not only to imagine =z gigantic the
BRI S Cmmie ~ conspiracy in which not only Li Kai Loi and Li Hip Loi are aces
i‘ invnlved but also Ng In Hon and Wong Wa Kong and a :is i
R } collusive mortzage put through with the aid of Yan Pun and abe
2 his wife Ho So Ching. We must go further and accept that bet=
ey the prime mover in this wicked plot, Li Kai Loi, having succeeded
o I in getting the property assigned to him was so overcome with “itt
4pgr or shame that he wss incapable of doing anvthing in wor:
R furtherance of his wicked fraud on the plaintif for thirteen “bac
i months, during which period plaintif made thirteen visits io
) her trunk, any one of which might bave led o his detection . . by ©
B and have put 3 summary end to his money-making schemes. We Yo Jun:
b must go further and find 8 reason for the sudden repentance
Dy of Ng Iu Hou who as soon as he heard of it tried to stop the shor-
o sale. True, he was the plaintiffs rent collector, and he would exec’ .
" have to explain why Do more regts were coming in, but if he purs:
i was & party to the conspiracy why not wait a day or two of X :
longer and then report the unfortunate sale of the propexty in t ;
- by the prodigal son as a fait accompli? 7 seerr +
1f, on the other hand, ome assumes plaintiff's knowledge ‘ repl:
of, and consent to, the assigmment, everything is capable of a . L
simple and logical explapation, and except for Li Kai Loi and i _‘?{ m a.
] his cousin Li Kip Loi our faith in human nature need not be 5 BTou
\ shattered. The assignment passed the property from deceased ¥
‘ father to lving adopted son. The title deeds are safe with E <5 is d:
Wong Wa Rong and plaintiff continuwes to receive the rents LiND
each month. Everyone is satisfied until suddenly to their -
horror they learn that hy means of a false statutory declaration e
the property has been mortgaged and by the mortgagee’s upon
exercise of his power of sale is in danhger of being lost. Such by :‘
a risk had never been contemplated by anyone, and the reaction :;v
of the various interested parties on hearing the news are .
I
i
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* instinetive and patural. Ng [u Hon when agked if he would

guarantee a mortgage of the property by Li Kai Loi had
declined to do so, but he did mot at once state that as the
property was not Li Kai Loi's he could not possibly mortgage
it. When he heard of the intended sale and went to the
office of Messrs. Wilkinson and Grist Ng Iu Hon claimed that
the power of attormey must be g forgery, and further said,
aceording to the evidence of Wai Po Cheung. “No mortgage
“is possible, because the owmer Li Kai Loi has told me nothing

“about it,” and further referred to the situation as a matter
between uncle and nephaw.

Wong Wa Kong when told of the sale said ‘‘Strange, the
“title deeds are with me,” and most significant of all are the
words of the plaintif herself to Mr. Hugh Jones “Get me
“back ruy son’s property.”

There remains for consideration the points of law raised

by the plaintiff appellant in her reply dated the I3th day of
June 1933.

With that aspect of the appeal I propose to deal very
shortly. Two undisputed facts, that the deed of sale had been
executed by both parties and the purchase price paid by the
purcheser before the receipt by Messrs. Wilkinson and Grist
of Messrs. Lo and Lo's letter, and that notice of any invalidity
in the title had ever been given to the mortgazee Yan Pun,

seem to me to dispose of the appellant’s contentions in her
Teply.

For the reasons given at length by the learned trial judge

in his judgment of 22nd June, 1983, I hold that the appeal on
ground of law fails.

The judgment of the Court below is affirmed and the appeal
Is dismissed with roats,

Lovpsery, J.

I concur. Although it may be that certain facts relied
upon by the learned trial judge were not sufficiently established
by the evidence, yet in my opinion there was ampls material
on which he was entitled to found his main conclusion, i.e.,
that the plaintif (the preseqs apbellant) must have had
contemporanecus knowledge of the purported assignment by
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| LiTso 8ms, Li Woon Nam to Li Kal Loi in 1930 and must have o

z ADMINIS-  pequjesced therein. _ : ’ s

TRATELY . ) : o

" | e In my view of the evidence the actual villain of this drama o

or may well have been Li Hip Loi against whom the appellant’s e‘_

| LINY;DN real fury was directed on her arrival here. =
| Deczassry S

Poggrfém appear to the world, and what was in fact intended to be, the

o * oD - Having allowed her nephew to vest himself with what must ' iz
'[ legal estate in the property new in dispute, it seems to me

that the appellant is clearly estopped from setting up her
own title against a bona fide purchaser of that property.

' | It has indeed been suggested that the mortzage to Yan

Pun must have been fraudulent and collusive. It may have
been fraudulent in the sense that it wzs effected either by
. Li Hip Loi acting under his power of atlorney, without the
! imowledge or consent of either Li Kai Loj or tne appeilant,

or by the two cousins acting in concert in Iraud of the

appellant, though in the latter case it is hard to understand

why, if he intended to defraud his mother by mortgaging the Mg

I Property and appropriating the proceeds, Li Kai Loi should

bave brought his cousin into the transaction. Of fraud or

collusion on the part of the mortpagee there is not, however,

. 8 scintilla of evidence. or can it be shown that he had any

’ notice at the time of taking the mortgage of any defect in

: ﬁ Li Kai Loi's title. That title may have been sketchy as being @ s

derived from Li Kai Lof's statutory declaration of the loss " A=

of his deeds, but it was supported by the registration in the k
Land Office of the assignment of 1930 in his name.

I

L}
L3
nt.v3 -

|
|
Nor sagain did the mortgagee have any notice of
appellant’s claim tc the legal estste at the time of the
: completion of the assignment to the respondent; and even if
f ( Messrs. Lo and Lo's letter of August 6th, 1881, had saddleqd

him and the respondent through their solicitors with such
notice hefore the transaction waa completed, I cannot see how
that notice conld operate to defeat the title of either or to ; i
validate aq adverse claim which the Court has held not to be S
mnaintainable, :

It s true that the solicitors, Messrs. Wilkinson and Grist T
were informed on July 234, 1931, that the validity of the
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power of attorney and consequently of the mortgage effected 1 Teg SmL

thereunder was challenged, but as the event has proved their m

clients were justified in disregarding this challenge. Nor can wrrz Taz
it be said that the information given was such as to pecessitate MWIU' o

enquiry which if pursued would have revealed the existence of L Woon
any bar to the mortgagee's right to transfer the legal estate Nast

‘ in the property to the respondent. . m”r
' 1 agree that the sppeal must be dismissed with costs. °§§m§°‘

RICKMERS RHEDERAI A--G,

(OWNERS OF THE S.8. “CLAUS RICKMER3")
Appellants
{ Defendants)
AND

THEE BANX OF TAIWAN LTD. AND
H.SM.R. KAZEROONI & SONS

Regpondents
{ Plaintiffs)
APPEAL No. 1 oF 1934.

(D. J. AcTioN No. 261 oF 189381).

Amendment of stetement of defence —admissions mude by mistake — 1934
part of dejemce dtruck cut for fwilure to supply perticulers  May 15.
—reatoring defones om proving inability to supply required
perticulars,

The defendants appellants appesled agzainst the refusal of
Waed, Acting C.J., sitbdog In Chambers, to allow them to file an
amended statement of defence.

The amendments consisted of (4) the withdrawal of
certain admizsions which the defendents swated they had ad-
mitted by mistake; and (b) the restoration of that part of thelr
defence which had beon stiuck out because they could supply une
particulars.

On appeal te the Fall Court, MacGregor, C. J. and
Lindsell, J.

Held: With regard to the fxst poipt: Before the Conrt
will allgw an admission to be withdrawn it must be satisfied
that the admission is o mistake; and the reason for making that
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